2-6

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

JAN 14 1987

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 69,173

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHRISTIAN DANIEL MASSARD,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY  
Public Defender  
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida  
301 N. Olive Avenue/9th Floor  
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401  
(305) 820-2150

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON  
Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Appellant in the court below and the defendant in the trial court. Respondent was the Appellee in the court below and the prosecution in the trial court. A copy of the district court opinion is attached to this brief (A1-4). In the brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

"R"	Record on Appeal
"T"	Trial Transcript
"A"	Appendix
"SR"	Supplemental Record

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 6, 1984, Petitioner, Christian D. Massard, was charged by amended information with two counts of attempted first degree murder and two counts of armed robbery (R1). On July 12, 1984, Petitioner was found guilty by a jury on all four counts as charged (R39-40). On July 27, 1984, the trial court adjudicated Petitioner guilty and classified all four counts as life felonies (R44). A guideline scoresheet was completed by the trial court (SR). Petitioner was sentenced to forty (40) years incarceration on each of the counts (I and III) of attempted first degree murder (R46,48). Petitioner was sentenced to forty (40) years incarceration on each of the counts (II and IV) of robbery which were to run concurrent to the counts of attempted first degree murder (R47,49). The trial court retained jurisdiction over one-third of Petitioner's total sentence (R46-49,52-53).

The trial court indicated that it was departing from the guidelines for the following reasons: (1) to deter others who might be inclined to commit similar offenses; (2) the defendant poses a clear and present danger to any community in which he might live; (3) the crime was committed in a cold and calculated manner without any justification resulting in permanent and disabling injuries (T509-510). The trial court also found Petitioner to be an habitual offender (T509). Petitioner appealed his convictions and sentences (R54). The Fourth District Court

of Appeal affirmed the conviction.<sup>1</sup> The Fourth District affirmed the classification of the attempted first degree murder convictions as life felonies and reversed the classification of the robbery convictions (A2). The District Court vacated the retention of jurisdiction over the guideline sentence and remanded the cause for resentencing because of the possibility that the trial court may not have imposed the lengthy sentence had it known that Petitioner would not be eligible for parole (A3). The District Court also held that points for victim injury could not be scored in computing the guidelines, but held that two of the reasons for departure from the guidelines were proper (A3-4).

On August 11, 1986, Petitioner timely filed his Notice of Invocation of Discretionary Jurisdiction. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction, dispensing with oral argument, by its order issued December 19, 1986.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Fourth District Court of Appeal originally filed its decision on May 7, 1986. On July 16, 1986, the Fourth District filed another decision in substitution of the May 7, 1986 decision (A1-4).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On October 13, 1983, Robert Carl Gillen, Jr., [henceforth knows as R. Carl Gillen] on leave from the Navy, was driving from Richmond, Virginia to Port St. Lucie to visit his father, Robert Lee Gillen Sr. [henceforth known as R. Lee Gillen] (T166-167). R. Carl Gillen was driving his 1975 Pontiac Trans Am bearing the identification number 2W87S5N531559 (T167). On his way, R. Carl Gillen picked up Petitioner who was hitchhiking (T167). R. Carl Gillen told Petitioner that he would give him a ride to St. Lucie County (T169). During the trip the two men stopped in Jacksonville to visit some of R. Carl Gillen's friends in the navy (T321). They attended a beer and whiskey party with these friends for four to five hours (T322). Later, the two men left Jacksonville and drove to Daytona where they shared a hotel room (T168).

The next day the men arrived at St. Lucie around 2:30 in the afternoon. Up to this point, the two men had spent thirty hours together and R. Carl Gillen considered Petitioner to be a friend (T169). R. Carl Gillen asked his father if Petitioner could stay for the night (T171). R. Lee Gillen went to take his mother shopping and told the two men that he would bring a pizza on his way back home (T171).

When R. Lee Gillen returned the three men ate pizza in the family room. R. Lee Gillen pulled out his wallet and offered his son some money, but the son didn't take any because he already



had money (T173). Later, Petitioner and R. Carl Gillen drove to a couple of night spots in Ft. Pierce and then proceeded to beach where they spend most of the evening drinking beer (T334).

The two men returned home some time after 2:00 in the morning (T335). They entered the house through an unlocked garage door and then through a kitchen door (T174-175). R. Carl Gillen locked both doors after entering the house (T174-175). R. Lee Gillen had gone to bed about midnight (T207). R. Carl Gillen testified that he turned on his stereo, and went to bed without undressing (T174,176-177). According to R. Carl Gillen, the keys to his car were in his pocket and there were no other keys to the car in the house (T176). Petitioner went to sleep on a hide-a-bed, outside R. Carl Gillen's bedroom, twenty feet away from R. Carl Gillen (T177,209).

R. Lee Gillen awoke at approximately 8:00 o'clock in the morning (T208). He noticed that his pillow was covered with blood (T209). Befuddled, he staggered to the bathroom and noticed blood on his face and a puncture wound in his forehead (T209). He had also noticed that his bedroom door was closed (T211). It had not been closed the night before (T211). Returning to his bedroom, R. Lee Gillen saw Petitioner lying on the hide-a-bed although he did not know whether he was sleeping (T209).

R. Lee Gillen then sat down on his bed (T209). The next thing he remembered was waking up around noon the same day (T209,210). At this time he noticed wounds to the side of his head (T210). He didn't know whether or not he had these wounds

when he woke up at eight o'clock in the morning (T232). He had not looked for these wounds earlier in the morning (T232). Not knowing what had happened to him, R. Lee Gillen went to the Florida room to ask his son and Petitioner if they were aware of anything that had happened in the house (T211). He then noticed that Petitioner was not in the hide-a-bed (T211). He opened the door to his son's bedroom and noticed blood all over the wall and carpets and saw his son lying across the bed face down (T212). The entire side of R. Carl Gillen's temple area above the ear looked like "raw steak" (T212). Thinking his son was dead, R. Lee Gillen shook his son until he opened his eyes (T212). R. Lee Gillen attempted to get his son into the bathroom, but was unable to hold him any longer and his son collapsed to the floor (T212). R. Lee Gillen testified that he immediately called the 911 number for aid (T213). The call was made sometime after 2:40 in the afternoon (T212). R. Lee Gillen then showered and dressed (T212). Police arrived shortly after the 911 call was made (T212).

As R. Lee Gillen was leaving for the hospital he reached for his car keys and wallet, which out of habit he usually put on his dresser before he undressed at night, and noticed that they were not there (T214). On his way out of the house with the paramedics, R. Lee Gillen noticed that his hammer was lying in a stationary tub underneath some water (T221). The previous night, before R. Lee Gillen went to sleep, the hammer was located in a tool box on the other side of the garage (T224).

R. Lee Gillen testified that he did not see anyone hit him nor did he have any recollection of being hit with a blunt instrument (T239). R. Lee Gillen did not see anyone take his wallet (T239). R. Lee Gillen also testified that the only person who had a key to the house, other than himself, was his daughter (T216). R. Carl Gillen remembered waking up and being told by his father that he would have to go to the hospital (T197). R. Carl Gillen did not remember what else happened in the house after he woke up (T177). Dr. Salinkas testified that the injuries to the Gillens were consistent with injuries that would have been levied by the use of an ordinary hammer (T298-299). Detective Fonda Cook testified that R. Carl Gillen indicated on the night of the incident that his father was responsible for him being hit with a hammer (T156,160). Later, R. Carl Gillen indicated to Detective Cook that Petitioner had hit him (T162). At trial, R. Carl Gillen testified that he did not see who had hit him (T196).

On a Saturday in mid-October of 1983, Petitioner pulled up to John Guyten's house in Miami in a red firebird (T258). Petitioner told Guyten that he had come down from New Jersey (T259). Petitioner had mentioned passing through Ft. Pierce or St. Lucie (T259).

On October 18, 1983, Officer Roger Smith of the City of Miami stopped a red Pontiac Firebird Trans Am bearing identification number TW87S5N531559 (T276). The driver identified himself as John Lang (T277). Officer Smith identified Petitioner as the person who identified himself as John Lang (T278).

On November 12, 1983, Petitioner attempted to turn himself in on a warrant (T280,282). There were no warrants on him in Dade County (T282). Petitioner was introduced to Detective John Skalski because he wanted to speak with someone regarding a homicide (T282). Petitioner told Detective Skalski that he got a ride from a sailor in Virginia (T285). The sailor drove him down to St. Lucie County where they went to the sailor's house and later ate pizza (T286). During the evening, Petitioner went out drinking with the sailor (T286). Petitioner told Detective Skalski that sometime later he woke up and "just snapped" (T287). Detective Skalski asked Petitioner what he meant by that and Petitioner said that sometimes his mind just snaps (T287). Petitioner then said that something happened and that he remembered taking the sailor's car keys and leaving the house (T287). As he was leaving he noticed the sun coming up and that the name on the mailbox read Gillen (T287). Petitioner then drove the Pontiac Firebird back to Miami (T287). Petitioner told Skalski that he was then stopped for not having a valid driver's license (T288).

Petitioner was released, and later was told by his mother that the police were alleging that he had hit someone in the head with a hammer (T288). Petitioner later went to the warrants section of the Metro-Dade headquarters building (T288).

Petitioner testified that in the morning at the Gillens he was woken by a noise (T337). He observed R. Lee Gillen walking past him into his son's bedroom (T337). Petitioner put his head down and attempted to go back to sleep (T337). Petitioner then

heard a door shut and heard some "tussling" (T338). Not knowing what was happening, Petitioner proceeded to grab some keys off a bar and drove to Miami (T339). He reached Miami at 11:30 that same day (T339). Petitioner testified that he never hit either of the Gillens with a hammer (T348).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

### POINT I

It was error to adjudicate Petitioner guilty of life felonies for his convictions for attempted murder which are first degree felonies. Since there was no requisite specific jury finding that a weapon was used, the offenses could not be reclassified pursuant to § 775.087(1)(a).

### POINT II

The trial court erred in sentencing Petitioner on several grounds. It was error to return jurisdiction over the guideline sentence. In addition, none of the reasons given by the trial court would justify a departure from the recommended guideline sentence. After a recomputation of the guideline sentence, Petitioner should be resentenced within the recommended guideline range.

### POINT III

Petitioner's credibility was the key to his defense. On cross-examination Petitioner stated that he had two prior convictions. On rebuttal, the state attorney produced evidence of four prior convictions. Although Petitioner could explain or rebut the new evidence introduced at rebuttal, he was not permitted to do so. It was reversible error not to allow Petitioner surrebuttal to the new evidence produced by the state on rebuttal.

POINT IV

The trial court erred in denying Petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal on the counts of robbery and attempted murder of R. Lee Gillen. There was no evidence presented to show that there had been a taking of R. Lee Gillen's wallet to support a robbery conviction. Additionally, where there is insufficient evidence to prove the underlying felony (i.e. the robbery) beyond a reasonable doubt in an attempted felony-murder prosecution, there can be no conviction for attempted murder.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADJUDICATING PETITIONER GUILTY OF A LIFE FELONY FOR THE OFFENSES OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER.

Petitioner was adjudicated guilty of two life felonies for his two convictions for attempted murder in the first degree (R44). To do so was error. Murder in the first degree is a capital felony. Section 782.04(a)(3), Fla. Stat. (1983). Pursuant to § 777.04(4)(b) a person who attempts a capital felony is to be adjudicated guilty of a felony in the first degree. Consequently, the trial court erred in adjudicating Petitioner guilty of life felonies for the attempted murder convictions.

The Fourth District indicated that § 775.087(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1983) could be used to reclassify the attempted murders from first degree felonies to life felonies on the basis that a weapon was used (A1). However, the provisions of § 775.087(1)(a) can not be applied unless there is a specific jury finding that a weapon or firearm was used. State v. Overfelt, 457 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1984). This specific jury finding is accomplished by either finding the defendant guilty of a crime which involves a weapon or firearm or by answering a specific question of a special verdict form indicating that a weapon or firearm was used. Overfelt, supra at 1387. Inherent in this requirement is that the jury, and not the judge, determine that the object or instrument used fall within the definition of weapon or firearm. See, Clemon v. State, 473 So.2d 271 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (where



defendant was charged with robbery while carrying a weapon, namely a knife, and jury found defendant guilty as charged, District Court held that there was no specific jury finding that knife was deadly weapon as required to enhance sentence). In Overfelt, this Court specifically noted the importance that the jury, rather than the judge, make the specific determination that a weapon or firearm was used in determining whether to apply § 775.087:

The question of whether an accused actually possessed a firearm while committing a felony is a factual matter properly decided by the jury. Although a trial judge may make certain findings on matters not associated with the criminal episode when rendering a sentence, it is the jury's function to be the finder of fact with regard to matters concerning the criminal episode. To allow a judge to find that an accused actually possessed a firearm when committing a felony in order to apply the enhancement or mandatory sentencing provisions of section 775.087 would be an invasion of the jury's historical function and could lead to a miscarriage of justice in cases such as this where the defendant was charged with but not convicted of a crime involving a firearm.

457 So.2d at 1387.

In the present case the jury did not make a specific determination that Petitioner had used a weapon as required by § 775.087(1) to permit reclassification of the attempted murder offenses. The counts in the information charging attempted murder alleged that Petitioner attempted to murder the Gillens with a blunt instrument (R1,2). The jury verdicts read "GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED FIRST DEGREE MURDER, as charged" (R39,40). Since

attempted murder in the first degree does not necessarily require proof that a weapon be used, § 775.087 does not apply unless the jury, via a special verdict form, finds that weapons were used.

In its opinion, the Fourth District indicated that § 775.087 was applicable because Petitioner was found guilty as charged. However, to find Petitioner "guilty as charged" the jury need only determine whether the state had proven the elements of an attempted murder (i.e. attempt death, caused by defendant, with premeditated design). The jury was not instructed that they must find that Petitioner used a "blunt instrument" or weapon in order for Petitioner to be found guilty as charged (see, T471-473). Consequently, the description of the blunt instrument was surplusage and immaterial to the jury's finding.

For example, if Petitioner had moved for a judgment of acquittal on the ground of insufficient evidence that a blunt instrument had been used, the motion would be properly denied even if there had been no evidence of the use of a blunt instrument. See, Mas v. State, 222 So.2d 250 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) (evidence sufficient to convict defendant of throwing missile even though missile described as "fire bomb" in charging document, such description was mere surplusage and state did not have to prove missile was a "fire bomb"). Merely because Petitioner was found "guilty as charged" does not mean that the jury specifically found that a blunt instrument was used.

In addition, assuming arguendo that the jury had specifically found that a blunt instrument had been used, such does not constitute a specific finding that a weapon was used. The trial

court cannot invade the jury's function by making a determination that a certain instrument or object constitutes a weapon. In its decision the Fourth District stated that the giving of the definition of a deadly weapon during instruction on aggravated battery combined with the resultant verdict constituted a specific finding that a weapon had been used in order to reclassify the offense. However, the jury was instructed that they would only consider the aggravated battery charge if Petitioner was acquitted of attempted murder (T471). Since Petitioner was not acquitted of attempted murder, the jury did not have to consider whether he used a deadly weapon in committing an aggravated battery. Again, the jury did not have to decide whether a weapon was used in reaching its verdict on attempted murder.

Finally, the reclassification of the attempted first degree murders cannot be justified by looking at the robbery counts which allege the use of a weapon. The verdict on one count must stand independent of any other count to support the judgment and sentence of the court. Streeter v. State, 416 So.2d 1203, 1206 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). Specifically in Blackwelder v. State, 476 So.2d 280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), the Second District Court of Appeal held in precisely the same situation:

Appellant also argues that because the statutory maximum for a first degree felony is thirty years, the trial court erred in sentencing him to ninety-nine years for the first degree felony of attempted murder. We agree. The state's contention that the crime was enhanced to a life felony under section 775.087, Florida Statutes (1983), because of appellant's use of a weapon cannot prevail. The court charging appellant with attempted

first degree murder lacked the requisite allegation of the use of a weapon or firearm. See, Peck v. State, 425 So.2d 664 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983); cf., Williams v. State, 407 So.2d 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) (crime properly enhanced by nolo contendere plea to information charging commission of crime while in possession of a firearm). The allegation contained in the robbery count that appellant used a weapon cannot be used to supplement the count for attempted first degree murder. Cochenet v. State, 445 So.2d 398 (Fla. 5th DCA), petition for review denied, 453 So.2d 45 (Fla. 1984).

476 So.2d at 281 (emphasis added).

Consequently, classification could not be done on this basis. Petitioner's adjudication for life felonies on his convictions for attempted murder must be reversed.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SENTENCING PETITIONER.

The original guideline scoresheet recommended a sentence of life in prison (SR45). However, without the points scored for victim injury and the additional points scored for the life felony classifications for the robberies and attempted murder, the sentence imposed amounts to a guideline departure. The Fourth District's decision to vacate the retention of jurisdiction by the trial court was correct because such retention serves no purpose where Petitioner was not eligible for parole. The case would then be needed to be remanded for resentencing in order for the trial court to determine whether it would give the same lengthy sentence (A3). The Fourth District interpreted the trial transcript to yield four (4) reasons for departure. (see T509-510).<sup>2</sup>

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