RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida 32301

RICHARD G. BARTMON Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue - Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

Since Petitioner's sentence was vacated and remanded for resentencing, Petitioner's claims in this regard should not be considered by this Court, because of mootness, and the only advisory effect any opinion of this Court would have on the case. Assuming <u>arguendo</u> this Court chooses to consider the issue, two of the four reasons given for departure were proper, such that the inclusion of two invalid reasons was demonstrably harmless, so as to permit affirmance of the sentence.

The trial court's denial of Petitioner's request to present surrebuttal testimony was an appropriate exercise in discretion, in conducting the trial, since Petitioner had a prior opportunity to admit, deny or explain the existence and number of his prior felony convictions, on direct and cross-examination. Furthermore, Petitioner failed to make a specific proffer of his surrebuttal testimony, barring appellate review, and additionally appeared to desire to testify beyond the scope of the State's rebuttal testimony. Petitioner's request cannot

- 8 -

be considered the equivalent of seeking to re-open the case; assuming arguendo it can, Petitioner's awareness of said convictions, and the State's intent to use them, mandates that the court's ruling was correct.

The trial court appropriately denied Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal, or the element of a "taking" of R. Lee Gillen's wallet, as to the armed robbery offense, by virtue of the sufficiency of the State's case-in-chief, demonstrating circumstances and inferences therefrom supporting the existence of a "taking". Since the conviction on attempted murder was supported by substantial competent evidence, on a premeditation theory, such conviction was not contingent on the validity of an underlying felony of armed robbery.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

TRIAL COURT'S ENHANCEMENT AND RECLASSI-FICATION OF ATTEMPTED FIRST-DEGREE MUR-DER, TO LIFE FELONY ADJUDICATION, WAS PROPERLY SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT JURY FINDING, OF USE OF WEAPON IN COMMITTING CRIME.

Petitioner has challenged the Fourth District's ruling, approving the trial court's re-classification of his conviction for attempted first-degree murder, to an adjudication of a life felony, as wrong, and in conflict with this Court's prior pronouncement in <u>State v. Overfelt</u>, 457 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 1984). However, Petitioner's argument, far from demonstrating such an erroneous ruling¹, adopts form over substance, and selectively ignores a common-sense interpretation of the verdict, charging document, and instructions given to the jury at trial.

Petitioner correctly re-states this Court's opinion in <u>Overfelt</u>, <u>supra</u>, which mandated that, prior to enhancement of punishment, based on the use of a weapon in the commission of a felony, a jury must make a factual finding that a defendant used a weapon or firearm in the commission of the crime, by alternatively finding him guilty of a crime involving such a weapon or firearm. <u>Overfelt</u>, at 1387. However, Petitioner's interpretation of the charging document, verdict and instructions, is based on erroneous assumptions concerning jury deliberations, and consideration of evidence as to a charged offense, and lesser included offenses, in a way which would pervert the clear intent of the enhancement statute, to increase the severity of punishment for the use of weapons in

Respondent consistently maintains herein that, for the reasons and arguments stated in its jurisdictional brief, at 4-6, Petitioner has not appropriately invoked the "conflict" jurisdiction of this Court.

felonies. \$775.087(1), Fla. Stat. (1981); Whitehead v. State, 446 So.2d
197 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), cert. denied, 462 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 1985);
Miller v. State, 438 So.2d 83, 85 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), approved, 460 So.2d
373, 374 (Fla. 1984).

Petitioner first suggests that, since the jury was not required to find that he used a deadly weapon in committing the attempted murder, as a necessary element of proof for conviction, and that this fact was "immaterial" to the jury's finding. Petitioner's Brief, at 14. In the event the jury had been required to make such a finding, as a constituent element of the charged crime, such a felony would have clearly been exempt from re-classification, under the specific language of said statute, as already enhanced. §775.087(1), supra; State v. Brown, 476 So.2d 660 (Fla. 1985); Strickland v. State, 437 So.2d 1150 (Fla. 1983). This argument by Petitioner ignores the very intent of enhancement, based on use of a weapon in committing a felony which does not involve a constituent element of such use, as a means to impose harsher punishment. Id.; State v. Whitehead, 472 So.2d 730, 732 (Fla. 1985); Carter v. State, 464 So.2d 172, 173 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), affirmed, 479 So.2d 117 (Fla. 1985). Thus, since it is clear that reclassification and enhanced punishment for weapon use is NOT contingent upon, or even relevant to jury consideration of such use of weapon, as an element of the charged crime, Petitioner's analysis has no application or meaning, and is not germane to the issue, along these lines.

Furthermore, Petitioner's argument, as to the alleged lack of the jury's consideration of the use of a weapon herein, ignores a commonsense understanding and review of the charge, and the verdict. As the

- 11 -

Fourth District correctly noted, (PA, 1), the attempted first-degree murder counts, as stated in the charging document, stated in part that, in committing the attempted first-degree murders of the two victims herein, Petitioner "did attempt to kill and murder [the victims], by <u>beating about the head</u>, with a blunt instrument, the said [victims]". (R, 1-2). (e.a.). The jury's verdict on these counts, were clearly designated, "guilty of attempted first-degree murder, <u>as charged</u>". (PA, 1); (R, 39, 40). (e.a.). Since the verdict thus clearly incorporated the charge, as a whole, by reference, on these counts, <u>Whitehead</u>, 446 So.2d, <u>supra</u>, at 198, it can certainly be concluded that, as a <u>factual</u> matter, the jury specifically found that Petitioner used a blunt instrument, in his attempt to kill both of the victims. Thus, Petitioner's argument that the jury was not required to find such use of a blunt instrument, in order to convict him of attempted murder, is factually irrelevant, given that the jury made such a finding.

Petitioner has additionally maintained that the jury did not have to, and cannot be deemed to have considered the use of a weapon in its deliberations, because the instructions given, on the definition of a "deadly weapon" (R, 479, 480), referred to a lesser included offense of aggravated battery, not the greater offense for which he was convicted. Petitioner's Brief, at 15. Petitioner essentially argues that, because the jury <u>convicted</u> him of the offense charged, it must be assumed the jury did not even consider the lesser-included offense, or the instructions (including the "weapon" definitions), pertaining to said lesser offense. <u>Id.</u>; (R, 471, 479, 480). This viewpoint assumes a literal, mechanistic and myopic perspective of jury deliberations, and

- 12 -

consideration of charged crimes and lesser offenses, that bears little resemblance to reality, and would frustrate the rights of the State and the defendant.

Petitioner's argument assumes that his jury, in determining the guilt or innocence of a defendant, restricted its initial deliberations and considerations to the charged crime only, and would have not gone beyond such restrictive consideration, without first determining that Petitioner was not guilty of the charged attempted murders. However, this defies the jury's discretionary power to convict a defendant of any lesser included offense, or any lesser degree of the charged offense, in evaluating evidentiary weight and issues. State v. Bruns, 429 So.2d 307, 309-310 (Fla. 1983); State v. Abreu, 363 So.2d 1063, 1064 (Fla. 1978); Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377, 380-382 (Fla. 1968). It is obvious that, in determining the jury question of whether the existing evidence "is susceptible of an inference that the defendant is guilty of a lesser offense", Bruns, supra, at 309-310, or of whether to apply their pardon power, Bruns, at 310; Abreu, supra, at 1064, Petitioner's jury would have necessarily considered the charged offense, and the aggravated battery lesser included offense², to which the definition of a deadly weapon "pertained". (PA, 2). Furthermore, Petitioner's restrictive interpretation of deliberations, if valid, would have effectively deprived the State of its right to have the jury consider Petitioner's culpability for those lesser included offenses, including aggravated battery, which the State could have charged, and was

 $^{^2}$ It should be noted that Petitioner's counsel requested, or at the very least acquiesced to, the giving of instructions on aggravated battery, as a lesser included offense, at the trial's charge conference. (R, 414-415).

entitled to try and prove. <u>Gallo v. State</u>, 472 So.2d 491, 492 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). From a legal and practical standpoint, Petitioner's reliance on the greater offense verdict, as creating an assumption of a lack of consideration of lesser included offenses or their instructions, has no validity.

An examination of the Record, demonstrates that the Fourth District's evaluation of the circumstances, as a sufficient jury finding that a weapon was used in the commission of the attempted murders, was in accord with this Court's mandate in Overfelt. As the Fourth District held, the jury's verdict, convicting Petitioner "as charged", necessarily reflects the jury's consideration of the definition of a deadly weapon, as instructed, and its application of that definition in its verdict. (PA, 2). The jury's clear decision, in its verdict, that Petitioner did attempt to kill and murder the victims, by use of a blunt instrument (R, 1, 2, 39, 40), must necessarily encompass the use of a deadly weapon, defined as an object which could be used to cause death or serious bodily harm. (R, 483, 484); (PA, 2). The reference in the information to the use of a blunt instrument, with which to beat the victim around the head, in an attempt to kill them, and the jury instructions defining a deadly weapon in a manner encompassed by the verdict, incorporating the crime as charged by reference, equalled a sufficient specific finding that the attempted murders involved the use of a weapon. Whitehead, 446 So.2d, at 198.

The Fourth District's reliance on <u>Whitehead</u>, is thus in accord with both the <u>Overfelt</u> requirement that a jury verdict reflect a finding of guilt of a crime involving a weapon, and the rejection of the "re-

- 14 -

strictive interpration" of §775.087, as urged by Petitioner, and rejected by this Court in a similar context, in approving the Fourth District's decision in <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>. <u>Miller</u>, 438 So.2d, at 85, <u>approved</u>, <u>Miller</u>, 460 So.2d, at 374. The common-sense approach of the Fourth District herein, thus fulfilled the statutory substantive purpose, of increased punitive measures for those who use guns in the course of their felonious conduct. Miller, at 85; Whitehead, supra; Brown, supra.

and the second of the

POINT II

TRIAL COURT'S DEPARTURE SENTENCE OF PETI-TIONER WAS APPROPRIATE.

As Petitioner has noted, the Fourth District, in its opinion, vacated and remanded the cause for re-sentencing. (PA, 4). The Court specifically noted that "the trial court will have another opportunity to evaluate the bases for departure in any event", based on the Court's rejection of scoring for victim injury, and retention of jurisdiction. <u>Id</u>. Since it cannot be determined at this point which, if any, departure reasons will be retained by the trial court, on re-sentencing, and since Petitioner will have the avenue of direct appellate review to the Fourth District in such event, any opinion by this Court, on this issue, would be moot, or at best, an advisory opinion. This Court need not address a claim by Petitioner, as to a sentence which has been vacated, thus not prejudicing Petitioner in any way.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> this Court nevertheless chooses to address the propriety of the Fourth District's ruling, as to those reasons relied on for departure by the trial court, it is apparent that two of the four reasons given were proper. Despite its disagreement with this Court's recent decision in <u>Whitehead v. State</u>, 11 FLW 553 (Fla., October 30, 1986), Respondent nevertheless acknowledges the binding effect of <u>Whitehead</u>, to invalidate the Fourth District's approval of Petitioner's habitual felony offender status, as a basis for departure. Furthermore, as conceded in Respondent's brief to the Fourth District, removal of the Petitioner from society, as a clear and present danger, was properly disapproved by the Fourth District as an invalid basis for departure.

- 16 -

(PA, 3); (R, 510); Respondent's Brief, Fourth District, at 31.

Petitioner has challenged the District Court's approval of the trial court's reliance on the cold, calculated manner in which the crime was committed, with the intent to "brutally kill" the two victims, leaving each with permanent and disabling injuries. (R, 510).³ This reason appears to be with regard to the attempted murder offenses, and not the armed robberies. In any event, victim injuries continue to be a viable basis for departure, reflecting one of the most vital, significant and subjective bases for punishment in sentencing. Copeland v. State, 11 FLW 2648 (Fla. 2nd DCA, December 10, 1986); Vanover v. State, 481 So.2d 31, 33 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), approved in relevant part, Vanover v. State, 11 FLW 614 (Fla., November 26, 1986); Jakubowski v. State, 494 So.2d 277 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986); Williams v. State, 492 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Bailey v. State, 492 So.2d 738 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Davis v. State, 458 So.2d 42 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), affirmed, 477 So.2d 565 (Fla. 1985). This is a particularly valid basis for departure, where victim injury is not factored in scoring $\frac{4}{4}$, and when the injuries are exceedingly disabling, beyond the "norm" of a particular crime. Vanover, 11 FLW, supra, at 615; Jakubowski, supra; Copeland, supra; Williams,



³ Petitioner's challenge to this reason for departure, as improperly based on inherent components of the offense, is being raised now, for the first time, before this Court.

⁴ As a result of the Fourth District's ruling, rejecting the victim injury scoring in this case (PA, 3, 4), Petitioner cannot claim the benefit of decisions which have disapproved victim injury as a basis for departure, when such injury is factored in scoring, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>see Lerma v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1986); <u>Vega v. State</u>, 11 FLW 2383 (Fla. 5th DCA, November 13, 1986).

<u>supra;</u> <u>Davis, supra;</u> <u>see, also, Stewart v. State</u>, 489 So.2d 176 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). It would certainly appear that the facts presented by this Record, particularly those to Robert Gillen's head, right side, and right hand (R, 84-86; 164-166; 211, 212, 215, 216, 250, 295-299), go beyond any requirements for conviction for attempted murder, and constitute a sufficient basis for departure. <u>Vanover;</u> <u>Copeland;</u> <u>Williams;</u> Bailey; Davis, supra.

Although the Fourth District rejected the trial court's reliance on deterrence to others as a basis for departure (PA, 4), the court did note decisions of the First District, which permit departure on such a basis as appropriate. <u>Mincey v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 396, 398 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 454 So.2d 751, 753 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). On the strength of these decisions, which appear to remain viable, and those of subsequent courts approving deterrence as a basis for departure, this Court should approve this reason for departure. <u>Floyd v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 872 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); <u>Ball v. State</u>, 487 So.2d 350 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986); Riggins v. State, 477 So.2d 663 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

Since Petitioner has not shown an abuse of discretion, regarding the two proper bases for departure, this Court should approve said reasons, and the Fourth District's application of <u>Albritton v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1985), to find harmless error. <u>Lerma v. State</u>, 497 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1986); <u>State v. Mischler</u>, 488 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1986); <u>Albritton</u>, <u>supra</u>.

- 18 -

POINT III

TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION, IN REJECTING DEFENSE REQUEST TO PRESENT PETITIONER SURREBUTTAL, ON EXISTENCE OF PRIOR CONVICTIONS, WHICH APPELLANT HAD PRIOR OPPORTUNITY TO ADMIT OR DENY.

It is axiomatic that a trial court has discretion to conduct a trial, so as to avoid repetition and needless consumption of time. §90.612, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1976). The trial court properly exercised such discretion herein, particularly in view of the nature of the testimony that Appellant sought surrebuttal of, and the Fourth District's rejection of this point, was proper.

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